Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Sarah E. Earp

May 4, 2012

Birdsong: Is it music to their ears?

by

Sarah E. Earp

Donna L. Maney Adviser

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

Donna L. Maney

Adviser

Darryl Neill

Committee Member

Kristin F. Wendland

Committee Member

2012

Birdsong: Is it music to their ears?

By

Sarah E. Earp

Donna L. Maney

Adviser

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

2012

Abstract

Birdsong: Is it Music to their Ears?

By Sarah E. Earp

Is music uniquely human? This question has been debated among musicians and scientists alike. One example of a possible non-human form of music is birdsong, which is believed by some to be music, and perceived by others as simple animal vocalization. Attempts to compare song to music have usually focused on the qualities of the sound itself, such as melody and rhythm. It may be more informative, however, to compare the experiences of the intended listeners. Previous studies show that areas in the neural reward circuit, including the nucleus accumbens (nAc) and the ventral tegmental area (VTA) respond in humans listening to pleasurable music. I investigated whether a bird's experience of birdsong is similar to the rewarding experience of music listening in humans by exploring whether the nAc and VTA respond in white-throated sparrows listening to song. I studied neural responses of female and male white-throated sparrows (Zonotrichia albicollis) exposed to either courtship song or a control sound. Half of the birds were treated with reproductive hormones to simulate the breeding condition, and the others were given a placebo and acted as controls. I looked at neural responses by labeling the immediate early gene (IEG) product Egr-1, which indicates new protein synthesis in response to a stimulus. Egr-1 expression was quantified in the nAc and the VTA. I found that females in breeding condition had a higher IEG response to song than to the control sound, whereas the females that were not in breeding condition and all males had similar Egr-1 responses to song and control sounds. Overall, my results suggest that birdsong is like human music in that reward circuits respond in the listener. In this seasonally breeding songbird, that parallel can be drawn only for females during the breeding season, when song is expected to have positive valence.

Birdsong: Is it music to their ears?

By

Sarah E. Earp

Donna L. Maney

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

2012

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Kristin Oleson, Greg Ball, Ellen Cho, Chris Goode, and Meredith LeBlanc for technical assistance during the experiments. I would also like to thank Scott Husband and Wayne Kuenzel for their input on avian neuroanatomy. I would like to thank the members of my committee, Dr. Darryl Neill and Dr. Kristin Wendland, for their time investment and contributions to my project. I am grateful to my family and friends for their support and guidance throughout my years at Emory College.

I am sincerely grateful to my adviser, Dr. Donna Maney, for her support and advice throughout the past two years. Her help has been extremely valuable, and she has been an amazing mentor to me. This work would have not been possible without her patience, advice, and support.

This work was supported by NSF IBN-0346984 and the Center for Behavioral Neuroscience.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Comparing the Structures of Song and Music	1
Comparing Responses in the Listener	4
Behavioral Responses to Song	4
Neural Responses to Music	6
The Neural Reward Circuit	6
Mapping Neural Responses	7
The Natural Function of Song: Study Predictions	9
Methods	10
Experimental Design	10
Animals	11
Study 1	11
Hormone Treatment	11
Sound Stimulus	12
Stimulus Presentation and Tissue Collection	12
Histology	13
Quantification of Egr-1 immunoreactivity	13
Statistical Analysis	14
Study 2	15
Hormone Manipulation	15
Sound Stimuli	15
Data Collection and Analysis	16
Study 3	17

Results		18
	Study 1	18
	Study 2	18
	Study 3	19
Discus	sion	20
	Summary of Results	20
	Comparing Neural Responses in the Reward Circuit	21
	Comparing Responses in the nAc: Anticipation of Reward?	22
	Comparing Responses in the VTA	24
	Comparing Neural Responses Outside of the Reward Circuit	24
	Hypothalamus	25
	Caudate Nucleus and Striatum	26
	Amygdala	27
	Hippocampus	28
	Overview: Comparing Neural Responses	28
	Sex, Hormonal State, and Social Context	29
	Neural Responses in the Performer	31
	Conclusion	32
Referen	nces	33
Table 1		51
Figure	1	52
Figure	2	53
Figure	3	54
Figure	4	55
Figure	5	56

Introduction

The debate over whether the song of birds is music has been explored by many scientists and musicians. There are many perspectives from which this question can be approached, especially in light of the fact that music has no singular, accepted definition. In past studies, researchers have raised questions ranging from whether song is an evolutionary precursor to music to whether melodies in song and music share similar tonal relationships. Because researchers have approached this question in different ways, many different conclusions about the relationship between birdsong and music have been reached.

Comparing the Structures of Song and Music

Is song an evolutionary precursor to music? This question is a major topic of debate in the field of evolutionary musicology—or the study of the origins of music. Wallin et al. (2001) argued that song is unlikely to be evolutionarily homologous to music, as birds are very distant evolutionary ancestors to humans. According to Wallin, if song were a precursor to human music, the genes that encode musical vocalization would have had to be present in the genome while remaining unexpressed for thousands of years of evolution, which seems unlikely. Rather, Wallin proposes that, just as several independent forms of animal song have arisen throughout the animal kingdom, human music may have spontaneously developed rather than evolving from the song of animals such as birds.

Although it is unlikely that music gave rise directly to song, it is possible that, from an evolutionary perspective, music may serve the same ultimate function in humans that song serves in birds. For example, just as song plays a role in sexual selection (Catchpole & Slater, 1995; Darwin 1871), it is possible that music serves a similar role in humans (Miller, 2001). Slater

(2001) suggests that sexual selection is one explanation for the rich variety in birdsong, supporting the idea that—although song may not be an evolutionary precursor to music—the acoustically pleasing tonal and rhythmic qualities of song that make it sound musical to the human ear could be a result of parallel evolutionary paths and may serve the same ultimate purpose.

The beautiful embellishments of birdsong that make it so appealing to the human ear may result from a common ultimate function of song and music, but just how similar are the tonal, melodic, rhythmic, and organizational qualities of song to those of music? Hall-Craggs (1969) suggested that humans perceive birdsong as music because song and music share several melodic and rhythmic qualities. Dobson and Lemon (1977) characterized tonal relationships found in white-throated sparrow (*Zonotrichia albicollis*) song and found them to be unlike those of Western music. In order to perform this analysis, the researchers recorded the songs of 58 white-throated sparrows and measured the tonal relationships between the temporally adjacent notes and found that they did not align with those seen in Western scales. Other species, however, may produce timbres, rhythmic variations, and modes similar to those found in music (Baptista & Keister, 2005). An example of a species with a distinctly musical song is the musician wren (*Cyphorhinus arada*), whose elaborate song nearly fits into a Western musical scale (Slater, 2001). In general, since the tonal features of song vary by species, the song of only some songbirds shares tonal qualities with human music.

For the species that do sing a music-like song, researchers have asked whether these songs have a syntactical organization similar to that found in music. In music, a recognizable musical idea made up of a short sequence of notes is known as a motif, and a musically directional string of many motifs, like words in a sentence, is called a theme (Clendinning & Marvin, 2011). According to Marler (2001), the songs of some songbird species appear to be organized syntactically. The swamp sparrow (*Melospiza Georgiana*), for example, has a repertoire of several acoustic units which may be combined in many ways to form song, like musical notes combining to form a motif. Although the swamp sparrow's song shares the motivic organization of music, and some songbirds seem to recognize syntactical organization in song (Gentner et al., 2006), songbirds do not organize many strings of acoustic units into more complex musical themes (Marler, 2001). From this perspective, although song is structurally similar to the short, simple motifs found in music, it is not as complex as human music because the motifs are not organized into tonally directional musical themes.

Human music is creative, but is song creative as well? Marler (2001) argued that song is like music in that it allows for creative recombination of sounds. Each male winter wren (*Troglodytes hiemalis*), for example, learns a set of up to ten songs, each of which consists of a unique sequence of acoustic phonemes. Although each male will learn phonemes from other males, he will combine these phonemes in a novel way, creating his own individual song. Because the components of song are combined in unique ways by each male, rather than mimicked from the tutor males, the song of the winter wren is arguably a form of creative combination of musical ideas. Hartshorne (2008) argues, however, that the songs of many other bird species, such as the monotonous song of the European yellowhammer (*Emberiza citrinella*) and the two note melody of the black-capped chickadee (*Parus atricapillus*), are short and stereotyped. Although there are individual variations in song, each individual repeats his own song with little variability, contrasting heavily with the rich variation in human music.

Comparing Responses in the Listener

Song, like music, involves the transmission of a signal from a sender to a receiver. In nature, the function of a signal, such as song, depends on the response of the receiver. The above analyses have focused on the structure of the signal rather than the response that the signal elicits in the listener. Rather than analyzing the structure of the signal itself—i.e., song or music—it may be helpful to consider the responses in the recipient of the signal, or the listener. In humans, hearing music elicits feelings of pleasure or reward. Here, I sought to better understand whether hearing song is rewarding in birds. If it is rewarding, then, in this way, song would be similar to music.

Behavioral Responses to Song

To examine whether hearing song is rewarding to songbirds, researchers have looked for a phonotaxic or a reinforcing effect of song. Eriksson and Wallin (1986) demonstrated a phonotaxic effect of song on female pied flycatchers (*Ficedula hypoleuca*) and collard flycatchers (*Ficedula albicollis*) in the field. Hypothesizing that male song is directly involved in female mate attraction, these investigators fashioned nest-box traps that contained male dummies and speakers playing recorded male song. Out of ten females caught in the nest-box traps, nine were caught during male song playback, while only one was caught in a nest box without song playback. These results suggest that song has a phonotaxic effect on females in the field, suggesting that it is rewarding to approach. In a study of European starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*), Gentner and Hulse (2000) constructed nest boxes that would play either male song or another stimulus, such as song played in reverse order, when a female perched on the box. The females preferred to perch on the nest-boxes that played song, indicating that song acts as a reinforcing stimulus, supporting the idea that song is rewarding to these females.

Not only will songbirds approach song, but they will also work to hear it. Operant conditioning paradigms have been used to test whether a stimulus is rewarding; for example, it is well-established that pigeons (*Columba livia*) will peck a key to receive a rewarding food stimulus (Dews 1955, Brown & Jenkins, 1968, Staddon & Frank, 1975). Riebel (2000) demonstrated that female zebra finches (*Taeniopygia guttata*) will peck a key to trigger a playback of conspecific song, indicating that hearing song is rewarding to these birds. Females in this study demonstrated a preference for male songs to which they were exposed during rearing, but even females with little song exposure during rearing would peck to hear male song. Overall, overwhelming evidence suggests that female songbirds have a preference for the song of conspecific males over other sounds (reviewed by Byers & Kroodsma, 2009).

The studies mentioned above support the idea that song is an attractive stimulus to female songbirds. Other studies reveal that this finding may not pertain as strongly to males. For example, Dobson and Petrinovich (1973) found that whereas almost all of the female whitecrowned sparrows (*Zonotrichia leucophrys*) in their study demonstrated a strong preference for male song over silence, only some males did. The finding of high individual variation in males was also reported by Stevenson-Hinde and Roper (1975), who found that some male chaffinches (*Fringilla coelebs*) showed increased rates of perching when perching was reinforced by playback of conspecific male song, whereas many others did not. The results of another study by Stevenson-Hinde (1972) suggested that a reinforcing effect of song was exaggerated in first-year male chaffinches treated with testosterone (T), indicating a possible link between hormone levels and reinforcing effect of song.

Overall, behavioral evidence has suggested strongly that songbirds find song rewarding, as they will approach song and will perform tasks reinforced by song. Humans will perform similar behavioral tasks—such as listening to a radio or attending a concert in order to hear music— that indicate that they find music rewarding. Researchers using brain imaging techniques have reported that the pleasurable feelings associated with music listening are associated with neural responses in brain regions that make up a reward circuit (Blood & Zatorre, 2001; Brown et al., 2004). For example, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and positron emission tomography (PET) in humans listening to music have shown blood-oxygenlevel-dependent (BOLD) or PET responses in the nucleus accumbens (nAc) and ventral tegmental area (VTA; Blood & Zatorre, 2001; Brown et al., 2004; Mitterschiffthaler et al., 2007). In humans, these areas show an elevated BOLD or PET response to music listening especially when the music elicits "strongly pleasant feelings" (Brown et al., 2004) or immensely pleasurable "chills" in the listener (Blood & Zatorre, 2001). Because elevated responses in the nAc and VTA are consistently observed concurrent with what participants describe as a rewarding experience, these responses are likely to be causally linked to the rewarding experience of music listening in humans.

The Neural Reward Circuit

The nAc and VTA are connected as components of a reward circuit in humans and in other vertebrates. A major component of this circuit was first discovered when Olds and Milner (1954) found that hooded rats (*Rattus norvegicus*) would press a lever in order to receive electrical stimulation within the septal region of the brain. They would self-stimulate this region

rather than eat or sleep, indicating that electrical stimulation in this area is immensely satisfying, even more so than rewarding behaviors that are naturally-occurring.

It was later discovered that electrical stimulation of the septal area causes dopamine release from the VTA into the nAc (Fiorino, 1993), suggesting that this release is involved in behavioral reward. The involvement of dopamine in behavioral reward was further supported by studies showing that rats will press a lever to self-administer dopamine receptor agonists to the nAc (Ikemoto et al., 1997). Dopaminergic neurons project from the VTA to the nAc in vertebrates, including rats, humans, and birds such as the pigeon, chicken (*Gallus gallus domesticus*), and budgerigar (*Melopsittacus undulates*; reviewed by Oades & Halliday, 1987; Spanagel &Weiss, 1999; Fig. 1). It is these dopaminergic neurons that are thought to create a functionally connected reward circuit. Overall, natural reward— as well as reward associated with drugs of abuse (reviewed by Wise & Rompre 1989)—is believed to be associated with the release of dopamine in the nAc from these neurons.

Mapping Neural Responses

In order to compare the responses in songbirds to those seen during music listening in humans, it is important first to understand the techniques used to measure those responses in both humans and non-human models. In humans, non-invasive brain imaging techniques such as fMRI and PET scanning have been used to assess neural responses to music. Functional MRI scanning uses magnetic resonance technology to produce a static image of the brain in addition to a map of the real-time location of oxygen-rich blood. The blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) signal produced by fMRI imaging allows changes in the flow of oxygen-rich blood to be mapped over the static image of the brain. Blood flow within the brain is thought to be associated with neural activity (reviewed by Huettel et al., 2004). The arrival of oxygen-rich blood to a region in the brain is most closely associated with summation of synaptic inputs by neurons in the region, as evidenced by correlation between BOLD signals and local field potentials (reviewed by Arthurs & Boniface, 2002). A high-amplitude BOLD signal in a brain region is therefore associated with firing of many neurons projecting to that area.

PET scanning functions similarly to fMRI in that it traces blood flow through the brain. PET scans trace the movement of metabolically-active radioactive molecules, such as fluorodeoxyglucose, injected into the participant, enabling identification of the areas in which these molecules are metabolized. Because BOLD and PET signals depict similar events movement of blood within the brain—PET signals, like BOLD signals, are thought to reflect the integration of synaptic activity in a brain region (reviewed by Tagamets & Horowitz, 2001). The magnitude of PET signals has been correlated with dopaminergic activity in several brain regions, including the striatum (reviewed by Fisher et al., 1995), making PET especially relevant as a functional imaging tool for the reward circuit.

In non-human animals, it is possible to look at responses in the reward circuit at the cellular level. One way to do so is by labeling immediate early gene (IEG) protein products, the levels of which indicate that a neuron is responding to a stimulus with new protein synthesis, in brain tissue. Like BOLD and PET signals, the presence of IEGs in a brain region occurs soon after the onset of a stimulus and disappears afterward. Although the BOLD and PET signals last for mere seconds, IEG expression can endure for minutes or even hours. When brain tissue is collected within this time period after the stimulus presentation, antibodies against IEG products can be used to map stimulus-induced responses (reviewed by Sheng & Greenberg, 1990). IEG labeling has been used in the past to visualize responses in the avian reward circuit, as

investigators have shown IEG expression in the VTA associated with song production in male European starlings (Heimovics & Riters, 2007) and white-throated sparrows (Maney et al., 2003). IEG induction in the reward circuit appears to occur simultaneously with behavioral reward. For example, levels of IEG mRNA were elevated in the nAc of rats during selfadministration or seeking of drugs of abuse associated with reward (Burton et al., 2009; Schmidt et al., 2005; Valjent et al., 2001) or during the presentation of rewarding food cues (Flagel et al., 2011). Rewarding electrical self-stimulation of the brain was accompanied by expression of IEG mRNA in the VTA (Marcangione & Rompre, 2008). Further, expression of the IEG product Egr-1 in the reward circuit seems to be necessary for behavioral reward, as rats did not respond to conditioned cues associated with rewarding drugs of abuse when Egr-1 was disabled (Valjent et al., 2006). In young male zebra finches, Egr-1 mRNA is present in the VTA during exposure to a singing male (Nordeen at al., 2009). This finding indicates that Egr-1 expression is induced by stimuli that also elicit behavioral reward in these animals.

The Natural Function of Song: Study Predictions

Involvement of the reward pathway during human music listening may provide some insight into subjective experience and allow us to explore the same phenomena in other species. Because humans and songbirds show similar behavioral responses to music and song, respectively, I predicted that the neural response to song in the songbird reward pathway would resemble that in humans listening to music. The current study is divided into three parts in order to compare sound-induced responses in the reward circuit under varying conditions. In the first study (Study 1) I aimed to demonstrate higher Egr-1 induction—and thus greater neural response—in the nAc and VTA in female birds exposed to song than in those exposed to silence. Because females usually demonstrate a behavioral preference for song (reviewed by Byers &

Kroodsma, 2009), I predicted that female white-throated sparrows exposed to song would have higher levels of Egr-1 expression in the reward pathway than those exposed to silence.

For the female listener, song functions as a courtship signal in the breeding season and an aggressive signal outside the breeding season (Eriksson & Wallin, 1986; Baptista et al., 1993; Maney & Goodson, 2011). Therefore, in Study 2, I predicted that hearing song would induce higher levels of Egr-1 expression in the reward pathway than hearing a control sound, but only in animals with breeding-typical levels of ovarian hormones. Outside of the breeding season, I predicted that hearing song would not induce as much Egr-1 because song in this context does not function as a courtship signal that would be adaptive to approach.

To the adult male listener, song is usually perceived as an aggressive signal and may not be adaptive to approach (reviewed by Catchpole & Slater, 1995). Therefore, in Study 3, I predicted that males—regardless of whether they are in the breeding condition— would be unlikely to show higher Egr-1 induction to song than to a control sound. Overall, by comparing the neural responses of songbirds listening to song to the response in the same pathway in humans listening to music, I hoped to show similarities between songbirds and humans at the level of the neural reward circuit and therefore similarities between birdsong and human music.

Methods

Experimental Design

I presented recordings of auditory stimuli, consisting of conspecific male song or frequency-matched tones, to white-throated sparrows. I first conducted a preliminary study, here referred to as Study 1, to test whether a song chorus known to strongly elicit copulation solicitation display (CSD) behavior (Maney, unpublished manuscript) would induce Egr-1 in the reward circuit at higher levels than silence. Because I hypothesized that females in the breeding condition would be more likely than other females to have elevated Egr-1 induction in the reward circuit, I treated all of the females in Study 1 with estradiol (E2). In Study 2, I examined the selectivity of the Egr-1 response in females with differing levels of E2, and in Study 3 I examined the selectivity of the Egr-1 response in males with differing levels of T.

Animals

Forty-eight female and 23 male white-throated sparrows were captured during fall or spring migration. Sex of the animals was confirmed via laparotomy or PCR, and at the start of the study, ovaries and testes were in a regressed state. Before the start of the study, birds were held on short day length for approximately 4 months or longer in order to bring reproductive hormones to the low levels found outside of the breeding condition, as done in previous studies in the lab (Maney et al. 2008).

Study 1

Hormone Treatment

At the onset of the study, birds were photostimulated by exposing them to a long day length (18L:6D). Several days after the onset of photostimulation, birds were moved to individual cages inside large walk-in sound-attenuated booths accommodating two birds housed in individual adjacent cages. During this time, the birds continued to be exposed to a long day length. In captivity, despite the stimulatory effect of long days on ovarian development, plasma levels of E2 do not increase to normal breeding levels in this species (Moore, 1983; Maney et al., 2007; Lake et al., 2008). In order to reproduce normal breeding levels of E2, at least one week after photostimulation, each bird received one subcutaneous 12 mm silastic implant (ID 1.47 mm, OD 1.96 mm, Dow Corning, Midland, MI, USA) sealed at both ends with A-100-S Type A medical adhesive (Factor 2, Lakeside, AZ, USA) containing 17β -estradiol (Steraloids, Newport, RI, USA). This dose has been shown to elevate plasma E2 to physiological breeding levels in females of this species (Maney et al., 2006; 2008; 2009). These implants maintain constant, breeding levels of E2 from day 2 for at least 80 days (Moore, 1983).

Sound Stimulus

Recordings of white-throated sparrow songs were obtained from the Cornell Lab of Ornithology Library of Natural Sounds. The songs were combined to produce a chorus of male song such that there were very few breaks between singing, and the songs of different males often overlapped. This type of auditory stimulus was used because it strongly elicits CSD (Maney, unpublished observations).

Stimulus Presentation and Tissue Collection

On the afternoon prior to stimulus presentation, two singly-housed birds were placed within a sound-attenuation booth equipped with microphone, speaker and video camera. All booths were identical. All stimuli were delivered at a peak level of 70 dB measured at the bird's cage. Stimulus presentation took place at least 2 days after treatment, at which point plasma E2 levels should be stable (Moore, 1983). On the day of stimulus presentation, at one hour after lights on, birds heard either nothing (n=8), a 4 min recording of male conspecific song (n = 8), or the 4 min recording repeated seven times with three min of silence between the recordings (n=5). All stimuli were delivered via speakers located inside the booths. Video recordings of all females made during the first 4 minutes of stimulus presentation were later scored for copulation solicitation events, defined as tail lifts, wing quivers or vocalizations characteristic of CSD (see

Maney et al., 2003). Sixty minutes following the onset of the stimulus presentation, birds were deeply anesthetized with isoflurane (Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, IL, USA) and decapitated. Their brains were harvested, fixed, and sectioned at 50µm as previously described (Maney et al., 2003; 2005).

Histology

Brain tissue was processed for immunohistochemistry as previously described (Maney et al., 2003). Briefly, every third 50-µm section was incubated with an antibody against Egr-1 (anti-egr-1; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), which was subsequently labeled using a biotinylated secondary antibody and a preformed avidin: biotinylated enzyme complex (Vector, Burlingame, CA, USA). Labeling was visualized using diaminobenzidine enhanced with nickel (see Shu et al., 1988; Maney et al., 2003). Sections were mounted onto gelatin-coated slides, dehydrated, and coverslipped in DPX.

Quantification of Egr-1 immunoreactivity

The VTA and nAc were identified in coronal sections with reference to Stokes et al. (1974), Maney et al. (2008), and Husband and Shimizu (2011). Egr-1 immunoreactivity was quantified in three consecutive sections, 100µm apart, in the nAc and six consecutive sections in the VTA. Egr-1 was quantified in these regions on one side of the brain, chosen at random except when one side was damaged; in these cases the intact side was chosen. Images of the nAc and VTA were acquired with a 4× objective using a Leica DFC480 camera attached to a Zeiss Axioskop microscope. All images were approximately 4.4 MB. The light level on the microscope was set exactly the same for each picture. Egr-1 immunoreactive (ir) cell nuclei in the nAc were quantified in each image by a blind observer using the thresholding feature in

Image J (National Institutes of Health) as previously described (Maney et al., 2003). Briefly, the particles with an optical density higher than a threshold value were counted within each region of interest. Because of variability in background staining among brains, this threshold was set manually for each image such that clusters of pixels highlighted by the computer program agreed with what the observer considered to be labeled nuclei. For the nAc, these clusters were counted inside a 0.16-mm² circle placed at the rostroventral edge of the lateral ventricle within the nAc (Husband & Shimizu, 2011; Balint & Csillag, 2007; Fig. 2A). For the VTA, Egr-1-ir cells were counted within the entire region of interest (Fig. 2B) at 10× magnification. The area of the VTA traced in each bird was calculated by using the free trace feature of ImageJ. The areas of the four tracings were summed to find the total area sampled within the VTA in each bird. For both the nAc and the VTA, the number of labeled nuclei was divided by the total area sampled to calculate the number of labeled cells per unit area.

Statistical Analysis

The values for cells per unit area in the nAc and VTA were square root transformed to normalize their distribution, then entered into a MANOVA (SPSS). One missing data point for the VTA was generated in SPSS using the series mean. When significant main effects or interactions were found, I then performed univariate F-tests and, when appropriate, Scheffe tests to make pairwise comparisons within treatments between stimuli and within stimulus between treatments. To test whether the animals' own behavior could explain Egr-1 expression, Spearman correlation tests were used to assess relationships between CSD behavior in females or song in males and the number of Egr-1-positive cells per unit area in both regions for each group. I also tested whether Egr-1 expression in the nAc was correlated with Egr-1 expression in the VTA by using Pearson's correlation tests for each group.

Study 2

Hormone Manipulation

Throughout this study, birds were housed on a short photoperiod (10L:14D) to prevent gonadal recrudescence and the elevation of endogenous E2. All birds received subcutaneous silastic capsules, 12 mm in length, as in Study 1. In this study, 11 birds received empty capsules, and 12 birds received capsules containing E2. After hormone treatment began, birds were housed in individual cages, four per sound-attenuation booth, for a period averaging 9 days before stimulus presentation (see "Sound Stimuli", below). Hormone treatment was heterogeneous within these housing groups.

Sound stimuli

New song presentations were created for Study 2. In these presentations, songs were played one at a time every 15 seconds in order to simulate a more natural rate of repetition. Songs were presented from 14 different males in order to minimize habituation to the song stimuli (Stripling et al., 1997). Recordings of white-throated sparrow songs were downloaded in Real Player format (RealNetworks, Seattle, WA, USA) from the Borror Laboratory of Bioacoustics birdsong database and converted to AIFF format using AudioHijack (Rogue Amoeba Software, Cranbury, NJ, USA). All remaining audio processing was done with Audacity (Carnegie Mellon Computer Music Group, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Background noise was removed. The recordings were edited such that there was 15 s of silence between each song and each recording lasted for exactly 3 min. These 3-min segments, each containing the songs of a unique male, were spliced together to form stimulus presentations such that the identity of the singer changed to a novel male every 3 min. Each presentation contained the songs of 14 males and totaled 42 min in duration. The 3-min segments from each male were presented in an order determined by a balanced Latin Square, such that each bird presented with song stimuli heard a unique order of singing males with no single male's songs preceding or following another's more than once.

In this study, I controlled for the presentation of an audio stimulus by exposing half of the birds to synthetic tones, a non-song sound that does not typically induce a CSD response (Maney et al, 2006; Sanford et al., 2010). Each bird hearing tones heard a unique sequence that was matched to one of the song sequences described above with regard to several parameters of sound. For each of the 14 recordings of males, the frequency of each whistle (note) in one song was measured using AudioXplorer (Arizona Software, San Francisco, CA, USA). Songs usually contained five distinct frequencies. For each song, eight sinusoidal tones were generated at these frequencies and arranged in a random order 200 ms apart. This resulted in tone sequences that matched individual songs in the average number of onsets and offsets as well as total sound energy at each frequency. Tone sequences were spliced together as for the song stimuli, with 15 s of silence between each eight-tone sequence, in an order determined by a balanced Latin Square.

Data Collection and Analysis

Playbacks were conducted as described for Study 1. The type of stimulus (song or tones) was balanced across treatment group so that six E2-treated and six placebo-treated birds heard song, and six E2-treated and five placebo-treated birds heard tones. Video and audio recordings were made during stimulus presentation and later scored for CSD events as described for Study 1. Tissue collection, immunohistochemistry, and data collection were as described for Study 1.

Cell counts per unit area were square root transformed and entered into a two-way MANOVA to determine the effects of hormone treatment and stimulus type, and the interaction between the two. Spearman correlation tests were used to look for relationships between CSD behavior and the level of Egr-1 induction in each region. To determine whether Egr-1 induction was related in the two areas, Pearson's correlation tests were performed.

Study 3

The design of Study 3 was identical to that of Study 2, except that I used males instead of females, and I manipulated T instead of E2. Eleven birds received empty capsules, and 12 birds received capsules containing T (Steraloids). The length of the capsules was 15 mm. This dose of T brings plasma levels within a breeding-typical range within 7 days (Maney et al., 2009). After hormone treatment began, birds were housed four per sound-attenuation booth for 7 days. As in Study 2, hormone treatment was heterogeneous within these housing groups. Animals in this study were exposed to the same sound stimuli as those in Study 2. The type of sound stimulus heard was balanced between the treatment groups, so that six T-treated birds were exposed to song, six placebo-treated birds were exposed to song, six T-treated birds were exposed to tones, and five placebo-treated birds were exposed to tones.

The remaining portions of Study 3, including stimulus presentation, tissue collection, immunohistochemistry, quantification of Egr-1-ir cells, and statistical analysis were identical to those of Study 2. Spearman's correlations were used to test for relationships between the number of songs given by the males in the study and Egr-1 induction in each area. I determined whether Egr-1 induction was correlated in the two regions of interest by using Pearson correlation tests.

Results

The results of each study are summarized below. I found that in females, hearing song induced a Egr-1 response in both areas of the reward circuit (Study 1). This response was selective for song over tones, however, only in females with breeding-typical levels of E2 (Study 2). In males, responses to song and tones were similar regardless of whether the males were treated with T (Study 3).

Study 1

The results of Study 1 are depicted in Fig. 3. A MANOVA performed on cell counts in the nAc and VTA revealed a significant effect of song exposure (Wilks' lambda $F_{4.36} = 4.42$, p = 0.007). Post-hoc univariate F-tests showed a significant effect both in the nAc ($F_{2, 19} = 5.698$, p = 0.012) and in the VTA ($F_{2, 19} = 7.787$, p = 0.003). Post-hoc Scheffe tests revealed that the Egr-1 response in both brain areas was higher after seven 4-min exposures to song than after a single 4-min exposure (nAc p = 0.022; VTA p = 0.023) or silence (nAc p = 0.024; VTA p = 0.004). There was no correlation between the number of CSD events and the number of Egr-1-ir cells in the nAc, indicating that the effect of the stimulus cannot be explained by the birds' own behavioral responses. There was a significant correlation between Egr-1 expression in the nAc and in the VTA ($R^2 = 0.343$; p = 0.004), but it was clearly due to the effect of stimulus on each region separately. When the analyses were limited to within-stimulus groups, the correlation disappeared (all p values > 0.148).

Study 2

The results of Study 2 are depicted in Fig. 4. A MANOVA performed on the data obtained from the nAc and VTA revealed a significant effect of stimulus (Wilks' lambda F_{2}).

 $_{18}$ =6.379, p = 0.008) and an interaction between stimulus and treatment (Wilks' lambda F_{2.18} =4.647, p = 0.024). Post-hoc univariate F-tests showed a significant effect of stimulus in the nAc ($F_{1, 19}$ = 4.855, p = 0.040) and an effect of treatment ($F_{1, 19}$ =6.099, p = 0.023) and stimulus $(F_{1,19}=12.313, p=0.002)$ in the VTA. Univariate F-tests also revealed a significant interaction between stimulus and treatment in the nAc ($F_{1, 19} = 9.652$, p = 0.006), but not in the VTA ($F_{1, 19} =$ 2.043, p = 0.169). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons revealed a significantly higher Egr-1 response to song than to tones in E2-treated birds for both brain regions (nAc p = 0.037; VTA p < 0.001) and a higher response to song in E2 treated birds than in untreated birds (nAc p = 0.038, VTA p = 0.027). In the birds that performed CSD (E2-treated birds hearing song), there were no significant correlations between CSD behavior and Egr-1 expression in either brain region (both p values > 0.266). A Pearson's correlation test revealed a significant correlation between Egr-1 expression in the nAc and in the VTA ($R^2 = 0.681464$, p = 0.015), but this correlation was clearly driven by the effect of hearing song on both regions independently. When the stimulus groups were assessed individually, no significant correlations between Egr-1 expression and behavior were found (all p values > 0.178).

Study 3

The results of Study 3 are depicted in Fig. 5. A MANOVA performed on the data obtained from the nAc and VTA revealed a significant effect of treatment (Wilks' lambda $F_{2, 18} = 5.205$, p = 0.016), but no significant effect of stimulus ($F_{2, 18} = 0.078$, p = 0.925) and no interaction between stimulus and treatment ($F_{2, 18} = 0.125$, p = 0.883). Post-hoc univariate F-tests revealed a significant effect of treatment in the VTA ($F_{1, 19} = 8.528$, p = 0.009) and a trend in the nAc ($F_{1, 19} = 3.445$, p = 0.079). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons revealed that this effect was significant only in the VTA in birds exposed to tones (p = 0.031). The number of songs given by

the males during the stimulus presentation was correlated with Egr-1 expression in the VTA ($R^2 = 0.396$, p = 0.001) but not the nAc ($R^2 = -0.12$, p = 0.621). When the groups were assessed individually, correlations between Egr-1 expression in the VTA and song production remained significant only in birds treated with T (song: $R^2 = 0.861$; p = 0.008; tones: $R^2 = 0.972$, p < 0.001). Egr-1 expression in the nAc was not correlated with that in the VTA either when considering all birds together or each group individually (all p > 0.136).

Discussion

Summary of Results

In Study 1, I showed that hearing song induced Egr-1 in the nAc and VTA. The Egr-1 response in these regions was consistent with what is seen in other animals experiencing reward (reviewed by Wise & Rompre 1989). Study 1 served as a preliminary study, as I looked for a song-induced response in the reward circuit before manipulating hormonal state and sound stimuli. Because I did see a higher Egr-1 response to song than to silence, I proceeded to Studies 2 and 3.

In Study 2, I demonstrated that the Egr-1 response in both the nAc and the VTA was selective for song over a behaviorally irrelevant control sound, but only in females treated with E2. This finding suggests that breeding-typical levels of E2 are required for the reward pathway to respond selectively to song, which is a courtship signal. Further, E2 appears to enhance responses to song, as song-induced Egr-1 expression in both regions was higher in treated than untreated females. Overall, from Study 2, I concluded that the Egr-1 response to song is modulated by reproductive state.

In Study 3, I predicted that Egr-1 responses in both regions of interest would be similar in all four groups of males because song delivers an aggressive message to all male listeners. I found that the response to song and tones did not differ and that T treatment had no effect on this result. These findings support my hypothesis that the reward circuit in males does not respond selectively to song either inside or outside the breeding season. Although the Egr-1 response was not itself affected by sound stimulus, it did depend on T-treatment; in the VTA, Egr-1 expression was higher in the males receiving T than in those with blank implants. This finding is consistent with others suggesting that gonadal steroids alone, independent of social stimuli, can induce IEG activity in the VTA in Japanese quail (*Coturnix japonica*; Charlier et al., 2005) and Syrian hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*; DiMeo & Wood, 2006).

Comparing Neural Responses in the Reward Circuit

In the present study, I aimed to compare my findings in songbirds with those in humans listening to pleasurable music. Many imaging studies have been conducted in humans listening to music (Table 1), and although each revealed a unique pattern of neural responses to pleasurable music, most showed clear responses in either the nAc or VTA or both. Responses in these regions—components of the reward circuit—are concurrent with reported feelings of enjoyment or pleasurable chills during music listening (Blood and Zatorre, 2001; Brown et al., 2004; Koelsch et al., 2006; Menon and Levitin, 2005; Mitterschiffthaler et al., 2007; Montag et al. 2011). In other vertebrates, IEG responses in the nAc and VTA are concurrent with rewarding stimuli, such as administration of rewarding drugs (Burton et al., 2009; Schmidt et al., 2005; Valjent et al., 2001). Because of the evidence that female songbirds in breeding condition find song rewarding (reviewed by Byers & Kroodsma, 2009; Gentner & Hulse, 2000; Reiner, 2000; Eriksson & Wallin, 1986) I predicted that song-induced Egr-1 expression in sexually receptive females would be high in the nAc and VTA. In my study, I found that song does induce Egr-1 in these regions and that when E2 is at breeding levels, this response is selective for song over a behaviorally irrelevant sound. These findings indicate that, just as hearing music elevates BOLD responses and PET signals in the reward circuit in humans, song elevate Egr-1 responses in the same circuit in birds. Similar neural responses in the two species may indicate that the experience of listening to song in birds may be similar to the rewarding experience of listening to music in humans.

Comparing Responses in the nAc: Anticipation of Reward?

Neural responses in the nAc, especially those involving dopamine, are associated with behavioral reward in both mammals and birds (reviewed by Oades & Halliday, 1987; Wise & Rompre 1989). For example, rats will repeatedly press a lever to self-administer DA agonists into the nAc (Hoebel et al., 1983; Philips et al., 1994). Thus, the response in the nAc in songbirds may indicate that song is pleasurable to them. Some research, however, suggests that responses in the nAc may indicate anticipation of a rewarding experience rather than actually experiencing it as a consummatory reward (reviewed by Ikemoto & Panksepp, 1999). For example, Ikemoto and Panksepp (1996) reported that intra-nAc injections of dopamine antagonists did not affect rats' consumption of sugar water, a stimulus known to induce operant responses (Gibson et al., 1965), placed in front of them. When the rats were required to work for access to the reward—a task that they would consistently complete before injections of antagonists-the injections interfered with their motivation to do so. Responses in the nAc associated with anticipation of reward are found also in primates. Schultz et al. (1992) showed that electrical activity in dopaminergic neurons projecting to the nAc increased in macaques (Macaca fascicularis) presented with stimuli that cue reward, and Knuston et al (2001) found

that BOLD responses in the human nAc occur during anticipation of monetary rewards. These results suggest that the nAc may be involved in reward-seeking behavior rather than consummatory reward.

Like in other vertebrates, the nAc may be involved in appetitive reward in birds. To the female white-throated sparrow in breeding condition, male conspecific song indicates the presence of a mating opportunity. Female pied and collared flycatchers in breeding condition exposed to song approach the source of song, indicating that the stimulus is attractive, and thus possibly rewarding, to them (Eriksson & Wallin, 1986). This approach behavior is similar to responses in other organisms while they seek out a reward, and is disabled when an antagonist is injected into the nAc (Ikemoto & Panksepp, 1996). Therefore, the nAc plays a fundamental role in regulating this approach behavior. Thus, the nAc response in the female songbird listener may be due to her anticipation of and approach of the rewarding experience of mating.

The nAc may respond during the anticipation of reward in humans. For example, Knutson et al. (2001) found that human participants showed increased BOLD responses in the nAc while they were anticipating monetary reward. In the context of anticipation of reward, the reasons underlying the nAc response when listening to music are less clear. The structure of music may offer one explanation. Music is built on the interplay of consonance and dissonance. In Western music, phrases may contain dissonance, but at the end of a musical phrase, the melodic and harmonic lines usually lead to a pleasing, consonant cadence (Clendinning & Marvin, 2011). Thus, the listener may experience anticipation while the musical line leads to the cadence and reward upon the arrival of the cadence. Salimpoor et al. (2011) examined neural responses to music during times of "peak emotional arousal," defined by the onset of pleasurable chills, and during the "anticipation" phase of music, or the time period before experiencing chills. Although previous studies suggested that the nAc is involved in appetitive components of reward (reviewed by Ikemoto & Panksepp, 1999), "anticipation" was associated with BOLD responses in the caudate nucleus, not the nAc. In contrast, responses in the nAc were associated with "peak emotional arousal," or consummatory reward. Overall, this study suggests that, in humans listening to music, the nAc responds during the experience of reward rather than anticipation.

Comparing Responses in the VTA

Whether it is induced by anticipation or by reward itself, activity in the nAc is controlled largely by inputs from the VTA (Oades & Halliday, 1987; Spanagel &Weiss, 1999). Elevated BOLD responses in the VTA are concurrent with administration of cocaine in human addicts (Breiter et al., 1997). VTA responses have been associated with administration of rewarding drugs of abuse in other animals as well (reviewed by Bardo, 1998), suggesting that, like the nAc, the VTA responses to rewarding stimuli are conserved across species. Further, the VTA appears to be necessary for experiencing reward, as rats will no longer self-administer cocaine following lesions of the VTA (Roberts & Koob, 1982). Blood and Zatorre (2001) and Menon and Levitin (2005) reported BOLD responses in the VTA in humans listening to pleasurable music. I showed that the VTA responds selectively to song (see also Maney et al., 2008). My findings thus indicate that, like music, song may be pleasurable to the listener.

Comparing Neural Responses Outside of the Reward Circuit

The nAc and VTA are not the only regions of the human brain that respond during music listening. Other regions have been shown to respond, and those responses and can be compared to those in the homologous regions in songbirds listening to song. Many of the regions that

respond in humans (Table 1) are located in the cortex, an area in which the homologies with the avian brain are not as well established as in subcortical areas. Because avian-human cortical homologies are somewhat controversial, I have focused here on subcortical structures such as the amygdala, hippocampus, regions of the hypothalamus, and the caudate nucleus (for avian homologies see Berk and Butler,1981; Cheng et al.,1999; Colombo and Broadbent, 2000; Huber and Crosby,1929; Reiner et al., 1994; Zeier and Karten,1971).

Hypothalamus

In humans listening to music, BOLD responses in the nAc and the VTA were strongly correlated with responses in the hypothalamus (Menon and Levitin, 2005). These authors proposed that the correlation occurs because the hypothalamus is responsible for executing the physiological responses, such as chills and changes in breathing and heart rate, associated with the rewarding experience of music listening. The nAc, VTA, and hypothalamus are extensively connected (reviewed by Zahm, 2000), adding further support to the idea that the hypothalamus may help modulate the reward response to music in humans *via* its connectivity to the nAc and VTA. Although each individual nucleus of the hypothalamus regulates distinct physiological responses (reviewed by Lammers & Lohman, 1974; Nolte, 1988), these investigators quantified responses in the hypothalamus as a whole. By looking at responses of the entire hypothalamus only, the investigators left the responses in the individual nuclei unclear. In white-throated sparrows, Maney et al. (2007; 2008) found selective Egr-1 responses in the medial preoptic area, the mediobasal hypothalamus, and the ventromedial hypothalamus. These regions of the hypothalamus may regulate physiological responses associated with song. For example, in ferrets (*Mustela putorius furo*), the medial preoptic area responds to sexual stimuli such pheromones with increased expression of the IEG FOS (Kelliher et al., 1998) and in European

starlings may be involved in the motivation to sing (Schroeder & Riters, 2006). The mediobasal hypothalamus is involved in the release of gonadotropin-releasing hormone in response to song (Maney et al., 2007). In males the lateral portion of the ventromedial hypothalamus responds to territorial intrusions only during the breeding season, which suggests that it plays a role in aggressive responses to song when the context is appropriate (Goodson & Evans, 2004; Goodson et al., 2005). In females, however, this region responds selectively to song both inside and outside of the breeding season, indicating a possible sex differences in its function (Maney et al., 2008). Overall, evidence suggests that in humans and birds, responses in the hypothalamus may be linked to physiological responses to music and song, respectively.

Caudate Nucleus and Striatum

The caudate nucleus, which like the nAc is part of the basal ganglia, may also be involved in experiencing reward. For example, Knutson et al. (2005) found BOLD responses in the caudate during anticipation of monetary reward in humans. The caudate also responds while learning difficult activities that may lead to a monetary reward (Haruno et al., 2004). Overall, associations with monetary reward—which is a secondary, or learned reward—indicate that the caudate may be associated with responses to rewards other than the primary rewards such as food, water, and copulation. The caudate responds in humans listening to pleasurable music (Berns et al., 2010; Blood & Zatorre, 2001; Koelsch et al., 2006; Montag et al. 2011). Berns et al. (2010) found that the intensities of BOLD responses in the caudate were strongly correlated with participants' ratings of the likeability of a song. If songbirds show homologous responses to song, we would expect to see song-induced Egr-1 expression in the avian homolog of the caudate (Reiner et al., 2004). Using methods similar to those in Study 1, Maney et al. (2008; unpublished manuscript) found that the IEG responses in both the lateral and medial striatum are

not greater to song than to silence. Therefore, to the extent that we can compare these structures in humans and songbirds, they do not seem to respond similarly to music and song, respectively.

Amygdala

Whereas the BOLD signal increases during music listening in some brain regions, it decreases in others. Blood and Zatorre (2001) found for example that pleasurable music causes a decrease in the PET signal in the human amygdala. This effect is not unique to pleasurable music, as decreased BOLD responses in the amygdala have been associated with other types of reward or extremely pleasant emotions (Breiter et al., 1997; Ketter et al., 1996). The association between decreased responses in the amygdala and pleasure may be explained by inhibitory input from neurons originating in the nAc (Bardo, 1998). Increased responses of one region may lead to decreased responses in the other. Blood and Zatorre (2001) found further that the PET signal in the amygdala was inversely related to those in the ventral striatum, likely including the nAc, and midbrain structures such as the VTA, supporting the idea that activity in reward centers may affect the amygdala. Like the hypothalamus, the amygdala is a heterogeneous collection of distinct cell types with unique functions (reviewed by Swanson & Petrovich, 1998). For example, the basolateral amygdala has been shown to respond to stimuli with negative or fearful valence (reviewed by Fanselow & LeDoux), whereas the medial amygdala responds to sexual stimuli (Baum & Everitt, 1992). Although Blood and Zatorre found local decreases in PET signals in the amygdala in general, they did not differentiate among the nuclei it contains. Thus, the PET response they observed in the amygdala may not be indicative of the responses of its individual components. Using methods similar to those in the present study, Maney et al. (2008) found that the Egr-1 response is higher to song than to tones in the nucleus taeniae (TnA), the homologue of the mammalian medial amygdala (Cheng et al., 1999; Zeier and Karten, 1971). In

rats, this region is known to respond to sexual stimuli such as sexually receptive members of the opposite sex (Baum & Everitt, 1992). In birds, song-induced IEG expression in the TnA may thus be associated with the sexual message of song to the listener. Because the individual components of the human amygdala have not been imaged during music listening, it is difficult to compare its response to music to the response to song in birds.

Hippocampus

Hearing pleasurable music decreases the PET signal not only in amygdala, but also in the hippocampus (Blood and Zatorre, 2001). Blood and Zatorre (2001) found a decrease in regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) in the hippocampus that, like the decrease in amygdala, was proportional to an increase in rCBF in structures such as the nAc and VTA. Inhibitory connections between the nAc and the hippocampus may allow the nAc to dampen hippocampal responses during music listening in humans (Bardo, 1998). In contrast, hearing song elevates IEG expression in the avian hippocampus (Bailey et al., 2002; Maney et al., 2008). In zebra finches, IEG responses in the hippocampus are induced by sexual stimuli such as a first courtship (Sadananda & Bischof, 2002) and hearing a mate's song (Vignal et al., 2008). This evidence suggests that responses in the hippocampus may stem from its involvement in processing sexual stimuli—a function that may not be served in humans listening to music. Overall, whereas decreases in rCBF are found in the hippocampus in humans listening to music, IEG induction is increased in this region in birds listening to song.

Overview: Comparing Neural Responses

My analysis of neural responses to music and song has revealed that some brain regions respond similarly humans and songbirds, whereas other regions do not. The hypothalamus and
the caudate nucleus respond in both humans and songbirds (Bailey et al., 2002; Maney et al., 2008; Menon and Levitin, 2005). Activity in other regions, such as the amygdala and the hippocampus, appears to be inhibited by pleasant music in humans (Berns et al., 2010; Blood & Zatorre, 2001; Brown et al., 2004; Koelsch et al., 2006) but stimulated by song in songbirds. Further, song-induced IEG responses in other regions that respond to music, such as the cerebellum (Brown et al., 2004), remain relatively unexplored in songbirds. Investigating whether there is a selective IEG response to song in this region and others would allow for a more informative comparison of subjective experiences in humans and birds.

A factor to consider when comparing the studies done in humans with my own study is the use of different tools—PET or BOLD signals in humans and Egr-1 induction in birds—to measure neural responses. BOLD and PET signals indicate integration of graded potentials at a region of interest, which may not always correspond with subsequent neuron firing (reviewed by Tagamets & Horowitz, 2001). Egr-1 induction indicates cellular responses that lead to new protein synthesis, which, like graded potentials, is not always linked to firing. Because the tools used measure different components of the neural response to stimuli, it is difficult to determine whether the observed similarities and differences in neural responses between humans and birds accurately reflect similarities and differences in underlying neural firing at the region of interest.

Sex, Hormonal State, and Social Context

A notable feature of the Egr-1 response in the reward circuit in my study was a dependence on sex and hormonal state. Sex and hormonal state may contribute to a social context upon which the interpretation of the signal by the listener is based. For example, females in breeding condition respond to song with CSD (Searcy & Marler, 1981) and/or phonotaxis

(Eriksson & Wallin, 1986), which is consistent with the idea that females interpret song as a mating signal. In contrast, males respond to song with countersong and aggressive approach, indicating that song functions as an aggressive signal to a male listener (reviewed by Catchpole & Slater, 1995). In humans, however, the function of music is not as clear. Behavioral preferences for music do not appear to vary according to reproductive state. Both men and women seek out music, and changes in endocrine state associated with the menstrual cycle do not appear to change music-seeking behavior. Although we may not think that women with high levels of E2 are more likely to attend concerts, a number of studies suggest that hormones may actually affect music-associated reward. Panksepp (1995) found that women are more likely than men to report feelings of pleasurable "chills" when listening to music, indicating that, like female songbirds who show behavioral preferences for song (reviewed by Byers & Kroodsma, 2009; Gentner & Hulse, 2000; Reiner, 2000; Eriksson & Wallin, 1986), women may perceive music as more pleasurable than their male counterparts do. Music perception may also be affected by endocrine state. Sanders and Wenmoth (1998) found, for example, that perception of music chords by women differs according to the phase of the menstrual cycle. Specifically, these investigators found that women in the menses phase, during which E2 levels are low, scored higher on a dichotic listening task than those in the midluteal phase, during which E2 levels are high. Ovarian hormones may therefore affect auditory processing and cognition. Future research on music preferences will be necessary to better understand the extent to which they are altered by endocrine state.

Sex and hormonal state are clearly important components of the social context in which white-throated sparrows interpret signals such as song (Maney & Pinaud 2011), but they may not be as important for humans interpreting music. Rather than examining the effects of hormonal state and sex on music enjoyment in humans, we might instead look at the role of other types of social context. In a study by Berns et al. (2010), adolescents rated clips of music, and after being told how their peers had rated the music, were told to rate it again. The peers' opinions of a music clip significantly affected the individuals' rating of the music. The participants found music that was "popular" with their peers to be more enjoyable. Overall, this study offers behavioral evidence that the pleasure associated with a piece of music depends on social context in humans. These investigators found that context-modulated changes in likeability of music were correlated with responses in cortical structures such as anterior cingulate and anterior insula, providing a possible neural substrate for this phenomenon. Because social context, as defined by endocrine state, alters song-induced responses of the nAc and VTA in songbirds, these areas could also be involved in context-dependent reward in humans. Responses in these regions were not reported by Berns et al. (2010). Future studies should test whether music-induced responses in the human reward pathway are modulated by social context.

Neural Responses in the Performer

To compare song to music, I examined the effect of these signals on the listeners. Song and music can also be compared with respect to their effects on the performer. Some of the same brain areas respond in humans performing music and male songbirds performing song. For example, IEGs are induced in the song control circuit in singing white-throated sparrows (Maney et al., 2003), and BOLD responses are induced in motor areas controlling performance-related muscles in performing musicians (Meister et al., 2004). Some regions of the brain, however, respond differently in the human and songbird performer. Several hypothalamic regions and the TnA respond in singing white-throated sparrows (Maney et al., 2007; 2008), but the PET responses in the same regions are decreased in performing jazz musicians (Limb & Braun, 2008).

Hara et al. (2007) and Maney et al. (2003) showed that IEG products are up-regulated in the VTA in singing male zebra finches but no corresponding increase in activity has been reported in that region in performing humans. The present study is consistent with an increase in IEG activity in the VTA, as the number of songs given by males correlates with Egr-1 expression in that area. Overall, with the exception of motor areas involved in performing, most of the brain regions examined in performers respond differently in songbird and humans.

Conclusion

In the present study, I showed that song is similar to music in that they both induce responses in the same components of the neural reward circuit-the nAc and the VTA-in the listener. These responses suggest that both songbird and human listeners may experience reward, or the anticipation of reward. Whereas these results suggest that the experience of song and music may be similar to the songbird and human listener, they do not necessarily answer the question of whether music in uniquely human. Other species show similar behavioral responses to sexually-motivated vocalizations that lack the aesthetic beauty of song to the human listener. For example, Goodson and Adkins-Regan (1997) found that female Japanese quail have a phonotaxic response to conspecific male calls, which are not songlike. In other animals, male vocalizations have a phonotaxic effect on females. For example, males of some species of frogs and toads use vocalizations to advertise themselves to potential mates (reviewed by Narins et al., 2007). In species that court using vocalizations, females will approach calling males or recordings of "advertisement calls" (Littlejohn & Michaud, 1959; Zeyl & Laberge, 2011). A brain region involved in reward, the dorsal striatum, was found to respond to male vocalizations with increased Egr-1 expression in male túngara frogs (*Engystomops pustulosus*; Hoke et al., 2007) suggesting that, although the responses in the nAc and VTA during these behaviors have

32

not been described, the underlying neural effects in these species may be similar to those seen in songbirds exposed to song. Overall, my findings do show that music and birdsong may elicit similar experiences in the listeners; however, these experiences may be shared also by quail and frogs listening to sounds that bear much less resemblance to music. If my results support the hypothesis that song is music, therefore, they also suggest that many other sounds, some of which do not share the aesthetic beauty of birdsong, may also qualify.

Song has been compared to music in the past, but for the first time, I compared the responses in the recipient of the signal—the listener. I found that the neural reward circuit most often reported to respond to music in humans also responded to song in songbirds, indicating that, at least in this way, song and music are similar. It is possible that the responses in these regions may underlie behavioral preference for these sounds. I found that in white-throated sparrows, this response is highly dependent on sex and endocrine state, as only females in breeding condition showed elevated Egr-1 responses to song compared with a control sound. Future research on the effects of hormones, sex, or social context on music-associated reward in humans, as well as the neural substrates that may underlie this phenomenon, would provide a more thorough understanding of how these factors modulate music perception in humans.

References

- Adolphs, R., Tranel, D., Demasio, H., & Demasio, A. R. (1995). Fear and the human amygdala. *J Neurosci*, 15, 5879-5891.
- Arthurs, O. J., & Boniface, S. (2002). How well do we understand the neural origins of the fMRI BOLD signal? *Trends Neurosci*, 25, 27-31.

- Bailey D. J., Rosebush, J. C., & Wade, J. (2002). The hippocampus and caudomedial neostriatum show selective responsiveness to conspecific song in the female zebra finch. *JNeurobiol*, 52, 43-51.
- Balint, E., & Csillag, A. (2007). Nucleus accumbens subregions: hodological and immunohistochemical study in the domestic chick (*Gallus domesticus*). *Cell Tissue Res*, 327, 221-230.
- Balthazart, J., Dupiereux, V., Aste, N., Viglietti-Panzica, C., Barrese, M., & Panzica, G.C.
 (1994). Afferent and efferent connections of the sexually dimorphic medial preoptic
 nucleus of the male quail revealed by in vitro transport of DiI. *Cell Tissue Res*, 276, 455–475.
- Balthazart, J., & Absil, P. (1997). Identification of catecholaminergic inputs to and outputs from aromatase-containing brain areas of the Japanese quail by tract tracing combined with tyrosine hydroxylase immunocytochemistry. *J Comp Neurol*, 382, 401–428.
- Baptista, L. F., Trail, P. W., DeWolfe, B. B., & Morton, M. L. (1993). Singing and its functions in female white-crowned sparrows. *Anim Behav*, 46, 511-524.
- Baptista, L.F., & Keister, R.A. (2005). Why birdsong is sometimes like music. *Perspect Biol Med*, 48, 426-443.
- Bardo, M. T. (1998). Neuropharmacological mechanisms of drug reward: beyond dopamine in the nucleus accumbens. *Crit Rev Neurobiol*, 12, 37-67.

- Baum, M. J., & Everitt, B. J. (1992). Increased expression of c-fos in the medial preoptic area after mating in male rats: Role of afferent inputs from the medial amygdala and midbrain central tegmental field. *Neuroscience*, 50, 627-646.
- Berk, M. L., & Butler, A.B. (1981). Efferent projections of the medial preoptic nucleus and medial hypothalamus in the pigeon. *JComp Neurol*, 203, 379–399.
- Berns, G.S., Capra, C.M., Moore, S., & Noussair C. (2010). Neural mechanisms of the influence of popularity on adolescent ratings of music. *Neuroimage*, 149, 2687-2696.
- Bingman, V. P., Ioale, P., Casini, G., & Bagnoli, P. (1988). Hippocampal ablated homing pigeons show a persistent impairment in the time taken to return home. *J Comp Physiol*, *A*, 163, 559–563.
- Blood, A.J., & Zatorre, R.J., (2001). Intensely pleasurable responses to music correlate with activity in brain regions implicated in reward and emotion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 98, 11818-11823.
- Bolhuis, J. J., & Gahr, M. (2006). Neural mechanisms of birdsong memory. *Nature Rev*, 7, 347-357.
- Brattico, E., Alluri, V., Bogert, B., Jacobson, T., Vartiainen, N., Nieminen, S., & Tervaniemi, M. (2011). A functional MRI study of happy and sad emotions in music with and without lyrics. *Front Psychol*, 2, 1-16.
- Breiter, H. C., Gollub, R. L., Weisskoff, R. M., Kennedy, D. N., Makris, N., Berke, J. D., ... Hyman, S. E. (1997). Acute effects of cocaine on human brain activity and emotion. *Neuron*, 19, 591–611.

- Brown, P. L., & Jenkins, H. M. (1968). Auto-shaping of the pigeon's key-peck. *J Exp Anal Behav*, 11, 1-8.
- Brown, S., Martinez M., & Parsons, L. (2004). Passive music listening spontaneously engages limbic and paralimbic systems. *Neuroreport*, 15, 2033-2037.
- Burton, C. L., Nobrega, J. N., & Fletcher, P. J. (2010). The effects of adolescent methylphenidate self-administration on responding for a conditioned reward, amphetamine-induced locomotor activity, and neuronal activation. *Psychopharmacology*, 208, 455-468.
- Byers, B. E., & Kroodsma, D. E. (2009). Female mate choice and songbird song repertoires. *Anim Behav*, 11, 13-22.
- Catchpole, C. K., & Slater, P. J. B. (1995). Bird song: Biological themes and variations. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge U. Press.
- Charlier, T. D., Ball, G. F., & Balthazart, J. (2005). Sexual behavior activates the expression of the immediate early genes c-fos and Zenk (egr-1) in catecholaminergic neurons of male Japanese quail. *Neuroscience*, 131, 13-30.
- Cheng, M. F., Chaiken, M., Zuo, M., & Miller, H. (1999). Nucleus taenia of the amygdala of birds: anatomical and functional studies in ring doves (*Streptopelia risoria*) and European starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*). *Brain Behav Evol*, 53, 243–270.
- Clendinning, J. P., & Marvin, E. W. (2011). The musician's guide to theory and analysis (2nd ed.). New York: W.W. Norton.
- Colombo, M., & Broadbent, N. (2000). Is the avian hippocampus a functional homologue of the mammalian hippocampus? *Neuroscience Biobehav Rev*, 24, 465–484.

- Darwin, Charles (1871). The descent of man, and selection in relation to sex (1st ed.). London: John Murray.
- Dews, P. B. (1955). Studies on behavior. I. Differential sensitivity to pentobarbital of pecking performance in pigeons depending on the schedule of reward. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 113, 393-401.
- DiMeo, A. N., & Wood, R. I. (2006). ICV testosterone induces Fos in male Syrian hamster brain. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 31, 237–249.
- Dobson, C. W., & Petrinovich, L. (1973). Song as a reinforcer in the white-crowned sparrow. *Behav Biol*, 9, 719-729.
- Dobson, C.W., & Lemon, R.E. (1977). Bird song as music. J Acoust Soc Am, 61, 888-890.
- Durstewitz, D., Kroner, S., & Gunturkun, O. (1999). The dopaminergic innervation of the avian telencephalon. *Prog in Neurobiol*, 59, 161-195.
- Eales, L.A., (1985). Song learning in zebra finches: some effects of song model availability on what is learnt and when. *Anim Behav*, 33, 1293-1300.
- Eriksson, D., & Wallin, L. (1986). Male bird song attracts females—a field experiment. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol*, 19, 297-299.
- Fanselow, M. S., & LeDoux, J. L. (1999). Why we think plasticity underlying Pavlovian fear conditioning occurs in the basolateral amygdala. *Neuron*, 23, 229-232.

- Fiorino, D. F., Coury, A., Fibiger, H. C., & Phillips, A. G. (1993). Electrical stimulation of reward sites in the ventral tegmental area increases dopamine transmission in the nucleus accumbens of the rat. *Behav Brain Res*, 55, 131-141.
- Fisher, R. E., Morris, E. D., Alpert, N. M., & Fischman, A. J. (1995). In vivo imaging of neuromodulatory synaptic transmission using PET: A review of relevant neurophysiology. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 3, 24-34.
- Flagel, S. B., Cameron, C. M., Pickup, K. N., Watson, S. J., Akil, H., & Robinson, T. E. (2011). A food predictive cue must be attributed with incentive salience for it to induce c-fos mRNA expression in cortico-striatal-thalamic brain regions. *Neuroscience*, 196, 80-96.
- Gentner, T.Q., & Hulse, S.H. (2000). Female European starling preference and choice for variation in conspecific male song. *Anim Behav*, 59, 443-458.
- Gentner, T. Q., Fenn, K. M., Margoliash, D., & Nusbaum, H. C. (2006). Recursive syntactic pattern learning by songbirds. *Nature*, 440, 1204-1207.
- Gibson, W. E., Reid, L. D., Sakai, M., Porter, P. B. (1965). Intracranial Reinforcement Compared with Sugar-Water Reinforcement. *Science*, 148, 1357-1359.
- Goldstein, A. (1980). Thrills in response to music and other stimuli. *J Comp Physiol Psychol*, 8, 126-129.
- Goodson, J. L., & Adkins-Regan, E. (1997). Playback of crows of male Japanese quail elicits female phonotaxis. *Condor*, 99, 990-993.

- Goodson, J. L., & Evans, A. K. (2004). Neural responses to territorial challenge and nonsocial stress in male song sparrows: Segregation, integration, and modulation by a vasopressin V1 antagonist. *HormBehav*, 46, 371–381.
- Goodson, J. L., Evans, A. K., Lindberg, L., & Allen, C. D. (2005). Neuro-evolutionary patterning of sociality. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 272, 227–235.
- Griffiths, R., Double, M.C., Orr, K. & Dawson, R.J. (1998). A DNA test to sex most birds. *Mol Ecol*, 7, 1071–1075.
- Hall-Craggs, J. (1969). The aesthetic content of bird song. In W. H. Thorpe, R.A. Hinde (Eds.), Bird vocalizations: Their relations to current problems in biology and psychology, (343– 366). London: Cambridge Univ. Press.
- Hara, E., Kubikova, L., Hessler, N. A., & Jarvis, E. D. (2007). Role of the midbrain dopaminergic system in modulation of vocal brain activation by social context. *Eur J Neurosci*, 25, 3406-3416.
- Hartshorne, C. (2008). The relation of bird song to music. IBIS, 100, 421-445.
- Haruno, M., Kuroda, T., Doya, K., Toyama, K., Kimura, M., Samejima, K., Imamize, H., & Kawato, M. (2004). A neural correlate of reward-based behavioral learning in caudate nucleus: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study of a stochastic decision task. *J Neurosci*, 24, 1660-1665.
- Heimovics, S. A., & Riters, L. V. (2007). ZENK labeling within social behavior brain regions reveals breeding context-dependent patterns of neural activity associated with song in male European starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*). *Behav Brain Res*, 176, 333-343.

- Hoebel, B. G., Monaco, A. P., Hernandez, L., Aulisi, E. F., Stanley, B. G., & Lenard, L. (1983). Self-infusion of amphetamine directly into the brain. *Psychopharmacology*, 81, 158–163.
- Hoke, K. L., Ryan, M. J., & Wilczynski, W. (2007). Integration of sensory and motor processing underlying social behaviour in túngara frogs. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 274, 641-649.
- Huber G. C., & Crosby, E. C. (1929). The nuclei and fiber paths of the avian diencephalon, with consideration of telencephalic and certain mesencephalic centers and connections. J *Comp Neurol*, 48, 1–225.
- Huettel, S. A., McKeown, M. J., Song, A. W., Hart, S., Spencer, D. D., Allison, T., & McCarthy, G. (2004). Linking hemodynamic and electrophysiological measures of brain activity: evidence from functional MRI and intracranial field potentials. *Cereb Cortex*, 14, 165-173.
- Husband, S.A., & Shimizu, T. (2011). Calcium-binding protein distributions and fiber connections of the nucleus accumbens in the pigeon (*Columba livia*). *J Comp Neurol*, 519, 1371-1394.
- Ikemoto, K. (1997). Dopaminergic innervation of the monkey caudal nucleus accumbens. *Brain Res Bull*, 43, 417-423.
- Ikemoto, S., & Panksepp, J. (1994). Dissociations between appetitive and consummatory responses by pharmacological manipulations of reward-relevant brain regions. *Behav Neurosci*, 110, 331–345.

- Ikemoto. S., & Panksepp, J. (1999). The role of nucleus accumbens dopamine in motivated behavior: a unifying interpretation with special reference to reward-seeking. *Brain Res Rev*, 31, 6-41.
- Juss, T.S. (1993). Neuroendocrine and neural change associated with the photoperiodic control of reproduction. In P. J. Sharp (Ed.), *Avian endocrinology* (47-60). Bristol, UK: Society for Endocrinology.
- Kalra, S. P., Horvath, T., Naftloin, F., Xu, B., Shuye, P., & Kalra, P. S. (1997). The Interactive Language of the Hypothalamus for the Gonadotropin Releasing Hormone (GnRH)
 System. *JNeuroendocrinol*, 9, 569-576.
- Kelliher, K. R., Chang, Y. M., Wersinger, S. R., & Baum, M. J. (1998). Sex difference and testosterone modulation of pheromone-induced neuronal Fos in the ferret's main olfactory bulb and hypothalamus. *Biol Reprod*, 59, 1454–1463.
- Kern, M.D., & King, J.R. (1972). Testosterone-induced singing in female white-crowned sparrows. *Condor*, 74, 204–209.
- Ketter, T. A., Andreason, P. J., George, M. S., Lee, C., Gill, D. S., Parekh, P. I., ... Post, R. M. (1996). Anterior paralimbic mediation of procaine-induced emotional and psychosensory experiences. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 53, 59-69.
- Knutson, B., Adams, C. M., Fong, G. W., & Hommer, D. (2001). Anticipation of increasing monetary reward selectively recruits nucleus accumbens. *J Neurosci*, 21, U1-U5.
- Knutson, B., Taylor, J., Kaufman, M., Peterson, R., & Glover, G. (2005). Distributed neural representation of expected value. *J Neurosci*, 25, 4806-4812.

- Koelsch, S., Fritz, T., V. Cramon, D. Y., Muller, K., & Friederici, A. D. (2006). Investigating emotion with music: an fMRI study. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 27, 239-250.
- Krebs, J. R., Sherry, D. F., Healy, S. D., Perry, V. H., & Vaccarino, A. L. (1989). Hippocampal specialization of food-storing birds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 86, 1388–1392.
- Kroodsma, D. E., Miller, E. H. (1996). Ecology and evolution of acoustic communication in birds. Ithaca, NY: Comstock.
- Lake, J. I., Lange, H. S., O'Brien, S., Sanford, S. E., & Maney, D. L. (2008). Activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis differs between behavioral phenotypes in female white-throated sparrows (*Zonotrichia albicollis*). *Gen Compar Endocr*, 156, 426-433.
- Lammers, H. J., & Lohman, A. H. M. (1974). Structure and fiber connections of the hypothalamus in mammals. D.F. Swaab, J.P. & Schade (Eds.), 61-78. Integrative Hypothalamic Activity, *Prog Brain Res*, 41..
- Limb, C. J., & Braun, A. R. (2008). Neural substrates of spontaneous musical performance: An fMRI study of jazz improvisation. *PLoS ONE*, 3, e1679.
- Littlejohn, M. J. (1959). Call differentiation in a complex of seven species of Crinia (Anura: Leptodactylidae). *Evolution*, 13, 452-468
- Maney, D.L. & Wingfield, J.C. (1998). Neuroendocrine suppression of female courtship in a wild passerine: corticotropin-releasing factor and endogenous opioids. *Journal Neuroendocrinol*, 10, 593–599.
- Maney, D. L. & Goodson, J. L. (2011). Neurogenomic mechanisms of aggression in songbirds. *Adv Genet*, 75, 83-119.

- Maney, D. L., & Pinaud, R. (2011). Estradiol-dependent modulation of auditory processing and selectivity in songbirds. *Front Neuroendocrin*, 32, 287-302.
- Maney, D.L., Richardson, R.D. & Wingfield, J.C. (1997). Central administration of chicken gonadotropin-releasing hormone-II enhances courtship behavior in a female sparrow. *HormBehav*, 32, 11–18.
- Maney, D. L., MacDougall-Shackleton, E. A., MacDougall-Shackleton, S. A., Ball, G. F., & Hahn, T. P. (2003). Immediate early gene response to hearing song correlates with receptive behavior and depends on dialect in a female songbird. *J Comp Physiol, A*, 189, 667-674.
- Maney, D.L., Erwin, K.L. & Goode, C.T. (2005) Neuroendocrine correlates of behavioral polymorphism in white-throated sparrows. *Horm Behav*, 48, 196–206.
- Maney, D. L., Cho, E., & Goode, C. T. (2006). Estrogen-dependent selectivity of genomic responses to birdsong. *Eur J Neurosci*, 23, 1523-1529.
- Maney, D. L., Goode, C. T., Lake, J. I., Lange, H. S., & O'Brien, S. (2007). Rapid neuroendocrine responses to auditory courtship signals. *Endocrinology*, 148, 5614-5623.
- Maney, D. L., Goode, C. T., Lange, H. S., Sanford, S. E., & Solomon, B. L. (2008). Estradiol modulates neural responses to song in a seasonal songbird. *J Comp Neurol*, 511, 173-186.
- Maney, D. L., Lange, H. S., Raees, M. Q., Reid, A. E., & Sanford, S. E. (2009). Behavioral phenotypes persist after gonadal steroid manipulation in white-throated sparrows. *Horm Behav*, 55, 113-120.

- Marler, P. (1970). A comparative approach to vocal learning: Song development in whitecrowned sparrows. *J Comp Physiol Psychol*. 71, 1-25.
- Marler P. (2001). Origins of Music and Speech: Insights from Animals. In N. L. Wallin, B.Merker, & S. Brown (Eds.), *The origins of music*, (31-48). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Meddle, S. L., & Follett, B. K. (1997). Photoperiodically driven changes in Fos expression within the basal tuberal hypothalamus and median eminence of Japanese quail. J *Neurosci*, 117, 8909–8918.
- Meister, I. G., Krings, T., Foltys, H., Boroojerdi, B., Muller, M., Topper, R., & Thron, A. (2004). Playing piano in the mind—an fMRI study on music imagery and performance in pianists. *Cognitive Brain Res*, 19, 219-228.
- Mello, C. V., Vicario, D. S., & Clayton, D. F. (1992). Song presentation induces gene expression in the songbird forebrain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 89, 6818-6822.
- Menon V., & Levitin D.J. (2005). The rewards of music listening: response and physiological connectivity of the mesolimbic system. *Neuroimage*, 28, 175-184.
- Miller, G. F. (2001). Evolution of human music through sexual selection. In N. L. Wallin, B.Merker, & S. Brown (Eds.), *The origins of music*, (329-360). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Miller, G. F., Marcangione, C., & Rompre, P. P. (2008). Topographical Fos induction within the ventral midbrain and projection sites following self-stimulation of the posterior mesencephalon. *Neuroscience*, 154, 1227-1241.

- Mitterschiffthaler, M.T., Fu, C.H.Y., Dalton, J.H., Andrew, C.M., & Williams, S.C.R. (2007) A functional MRI study of happy and sad affective states induced by classical music. *Hum Brain Mapp.* 28, 1150-1162.
- Moore, M. (1983). Effect of female displays on the endocrine physiology and behavior or male white-crowned sparrows, *Zonotrichia leucophrys. J Zool*, 199, 137–148.
- Moore, M. C., & Kranz, R. (1983). Evidence for androgen independence of male mounting behavior in white-crowned sparrows (*Zonotrichia leucophrys gambelii*). *Horm Behav*, 17, 414-423.
- Montag, C., Reuter, M., & Axmacher, N. (2011). How one's favorite song activates the reward circuitry of the brain: Personality matters! *Behavl Brain Res*, 225, 511-514.
- Narins, P. M., Feng, A. S., Fay, R. R., & Popper, A. N. (2007). *Hearing and sound communication in amphibians*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Newman, S.W. (1999). The medial extended amygdala in male reproductive behavior. A node in the mammalian social behavior network. *Ann NY Acad Sci*, 877, 242–257.
- Nolte, J. (1988). The human brain (2nd ed.). St. Louis, MO: The C. V. Mosby Company.
- Nordeen, E. J., Holtzman, D. A., & Nordeen, K. W. (2009). Increased Fos expression among midbrain dopaminergic cell groups during birdsong tutoring. *Eur J Neurosci*, 30, 662-670.
- Oades, R.D. & Halliday, G.M. (1987). Ventral tegmental (A10) system: neurobiology. 1. Anatomy and connectivity. *Brain Res Rev*, 12, 117-165.

- Olds, J., & Milner, P. (1954). Positive reinforcement produced by electrical stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. *J Comp Physiol Psychol*, 47, 419-427.
- Panksepp, J. (1995). The emotional sources of "chills" induced by music. *Music Percept*, 13, 171-207.
- Pazol, K., Kaplan, J.R., Abbott, D. & Wilson, M.E. (2004). Practical measurement of total and bioavailable estradiol in female macaques. *Clin Chim Acta*, 340, 117–126.
- Pereira, C. S., Teixeira, J., Figueiredo, P., Xavier, J., Castro, S. L., & Brattico, E. (2011). Music and emotions in the brain: Familiarity matters. *PLoS ONE*, 6, e27241.
- Phillips, G. D., Robbins, T. W., Everitt, B. J. (1994). Bilateral intra-accumbens selfadministration of d-amphetamine: antagonism with intra-accumbens SCH-23390 and sulpiride *Psychopharmacology*, 114, 477–485.
- Reiner, A., Perkel, D. P., Bruce, L. L., Butler, A. B., Csillag, A., Kuenzel, W., ... Jarvis, E.
 (2004). Revised nomenclature for avian telencephalon and some related brainstem nuclei. *J Comp Neurol*, 473, 377-414.
- Riebel, K. (2000). Early exposure leads to repeatable preferences for male song in female zebra finches. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 267, 2553-2558.
- Riters, L.V., Teague, D. P., Schroeder, M.B., & Cummings, S. E. (2004). Vocal production in different social contexts relates to variation in immediate early gene immunoreactivity within and outside of the song control system. *Behav Brain Res*, 155, 307-318.

- Roberts, D. C. S., & Koob, G. F. (1982). Disruption of cocaine self-administration following 6hydroxydopamine lesions of the ventral tegmental area in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 17, 901-904.
- Sadananda, M., & Bischof, H. (2002). Enhanced fos expression in the zebra finch (*Taeniopygia guttata*) brain following first courtship. *J Comp Neurol*, 448, 150-164.
- Salimpoor, V. N., Benovoy, M., Larcher, K., Dagher, A., & Zatorre, R. J. (2011). Anatomically distinct dopamine release during anticipation and experience of peak emotion to music. *Nature Neurosci*, 14, 257-262.
- Sanders, G., & Wenmoth, D. (1998). Verbal and music dichotic listening tasks reveal variations in functional cerebral asymmetry across the menstrual cycle that are phase and task dependent. *Neuropsychologia*, 36, 869-874.
- Sanford, S. E., Lange, H. S., & Maney, D. L. (2010). Topography of estradiol-modulated genomic responses in the songbird auditory forebrain. *Dev Neurobio*, 70, 73-86.
- Schmidt, E. D., Voorn, P., Binnekade, R., Schoffelmeer, A. N., & De Vries, T. J. (2005).
 Differential involvement of the prelimbic cortex and striatum in conditioned heroin and sucrose seeking following long-term extinction. *Eur J Neurosci*, 22, 2347-2356.
- Schroeder, M. B., & Riters, L. V. (2006). Pharmacological manipulations of dopamine and opioids have differential effects on sexually motivated song in male European starlings. *Physiol Behav*, 88, 575-584.
- Schultz, W., Apicella, P., Scarnati, E., & Ljungberg, T. (1992). Neuronal activity in monkey ventral striatum related to the expectation of reward. *J Neurosci*, 12, 4595–4610.

- Searcy W.A., & Marler P. (1981). A test for responsiveness to song structure and programming in female sparrows. *Science*, 213, 926–928
- Shank, M.C. (1959). The natural termination of the refractory period in the Slate-colored Junco and in the white-throated sparrow. *Auk*, 76, 44–54.
- Sheng, M., & Greenberg, M. E. (1990). The regulation and function of c-fos and other immediate early genes in the nervous system. *Neuron*, 4, 477-485.
- Shu, S., Gong, J. & Fan, L. (1988). The glucose oxidase-DAB-nickel method in peroxidase histochemistry of the nervous system. *Neuroscience Lett*, 85, 169–171.
- Slater, P. J. B. (2001). Birdsong repertories: Their origins and use. In N. L. Wallin, B. Merker, &S. Brown (Eds.), *The origins of music*, (49-64). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Smith, G.T, Brenowitz E.A., & Wingfield J.C. (1997). Roles of photoperiod and testosterone in seasonal plasticity of the avian song control system. *J Neurobiol*, 32, 426–442.
- Spanagel, R., & Weiss, F. (1999). The dopamine hypothesis of reward: past and current status. *Trends Neurosci*, 22, 521-527.
- Staddon, J. E., & Frank, J. A. (1975). The role of the peck-food contingency on fixed-interval schedules. *J Exp Anal Behav*, 23, 17-23.
- Stevenson-Hinde, J. (1972). Effects of early experience and testosterone on song as a reinforcer. *Anim Behav*, 20, 430-435.
- Stevenson-Hinde, J., & Roper, R. (1975). Individual differences in reinforcing effects of song. *Anim Behav*, 23, 729-734.

- Stokes, T.M., Leonard, C.M. & Nottebohm, F. (1974). The telencephalon, diencephalons, and mesencephalon of the canary, *Serinus canaria*, in stereotaxic coordinates. *J Comp Neurol*, 156, 337–374.
- Stripling, R., Volman, S.F. & Clayton, D.F. (1997). Response modulation in the zebra finch neostriatum: relationship to nuclear gene regulation. *J Neurosci*, 17, 3883–3893.
- Swanson, L. W., & Petrovich, G. D. (1998). What is the amygdala? *Trends Neurosci*, 21, 323-331.
- Tagamets, M. A., & Horwitz, B. (2001). Interpreting PET and fMRI measures of functional neural activity: the effects of synaptic inhibition on cortical activation in human imaging studies. *Brain Res Bull*, 54, 267-273.
- Tramontin, A.D., Wingfield J.C., & Brenowitz, E.A. (2003). Androgens and estrogens induce seasonal-like growth of song nuclei in the adult songbird. *JNeurobiol*, 57, 130–140.
- Valjent, E., Aubier, B., Corbille, A. G., Brami-Cherrier, K., Caboche, J., Topilko, P., & Herve,
 D. (2006). Plasticity-associated gene Krox24/Zif268 is required for long-lasting
 behavioral effects of cocaine. *J Neurosci*, 26, 4956-4960.
- Valjent, E., Pages, C., Rogard, M., Besson, M. J., Maldonado, R., & Caboche, J. (2001). Delta 9tetrahydrocannabinol-induced MAPK/ERK and Elk-1 activation in vivo depends on dopaminergic transmission. *Eur J Neurosci*, 14, 342-352.
- Vignal, C., Bouchut, C., & Mathevon, N. (2008). Sound-induced brain activity depends on stimulus subjective salience in female zebra finches. *C R Biol*, 331, 347–356.

- Wallin, N.L., Merker, B., & Brown, S. (2001). Book review: The Origins of Music. *Music Percept*, 18, 513-521.
- Wikelski, M., Lynn, S., Breuner, C.W., Wingfield J.C., & Kenagy G.J. (1999). Energy metabolism, testosterone and corticosterone in white-crowned sparrows. *J Comp Physiol*, *A*, 185, 463–470.
- Wise, R. A., & Rompre, P. P. (1989). Brain dopamine and reward. *Annu Rev Psychol*, 40, 191-225.
- Wolfson, A. (1958). Regulation of refractory period in the photoperiodic responses of the Whitethroated Sparrow. *J Exp Zool*, 139, 349–379.
- Zahm, D. S. (2000). An integrative neuroanatomical perspective on some subcortical substrates of adaptive responding with emphasis on the nucleus accumbens. *Neurosci Biobehav R*, 24, 85-105.
- Zald, D. H., & Pardo, J. V. (1997). Emotion, olfaction, and the human amygdala: Amygdala activation during aversive olfactory stimulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 94, 4119-4124.
- Zeier, H., & Karten, H. J. (1971). The archistriatum of the pigeon: organization of afferent and efferent connections. *Brain Res*, 31, 313–326.
- Zeyl, J. N., & Laberge, F. (2011). Multisensory signals trigger approach behaviour in the firebellied toad *Bombina orientalis*: sex differences and call specificity. *Zoology*, 114, 369-377.

Table 1. Regions of the human brain that show changes in blood oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) responsesor positron-emission topography (PET) signals in response to pleasurable music.

Brain region in humans	References
Amygdala	Blood and Zatorre, 2001
Anterior cingulate	Brown et al., 2004 (prefrontal); Mitterschiffthaler et al., 2007; Pereira et al. 2011 (rostral)
Caudate nucleus	Berns et al., 2010; Blood & Zatorre, 2001; Koelsch et al., 2006; Montag et al., 2011; Salimpoor et al., 2011
Dorsal striatum	Mitterschiffthaler et al., 2007
Cerebellum	Brown et al., 2004
Heschl's gyrus	Koelsch et al., 2006
Hippocampus	Brown et al., 2004
Hypothalamus	Menon and Levitin, 2005
Inferior frontal gyrus	Koelsch et al., 2006; Pereira et al. 2011
Insula	Brattico et al. 2011; Brown et al., 2004 (anterior); Koelsch et al., 2006 (anterior superior); Menon and Levitin, 2005; Montag et al., 2011
Medial frontal gyrus	Pereira et al. 2011
Orbitofrontal cortex	Blood and Zatorre, 2001
Parahippocampal gyrus	Mitterschiffthaler et al., 2007
Retrosplenial cortex	Brown et al., 2004
Rolandic operculum	Koelsch et al., 2006
Subcallosal cingulate gyrus	Brown et al., 2004
Superior frontal gyrus	Pereira et al. 2011
Ventral medial prefrontal cortex	Blood and Zatorre, 2001
Ventral striatum (including nAc)	Blood and Zatorre, 2001; Brown et al., 2004; Koelsch et al., 2006; Menon and Levitin, 2005; Mitterschiffthaler et al., 2007; Montag et al., 2011; Salimpoor et al., 2011
Ventral tegmental area (midbrain)	Blood and Zatorre, 2001; Menon and Levitin, 2005

FIGURES



Fig. 1. The neural reward circuit. This image depicts the reward circuit in a sagittal section of the avian brain, with the beak to the left. The same pathway exists in the human brain. Dopaminergic neurons project from the VTA to the nAc, and, when releasing dopamine into the nAc, are associated with behavioral reward.



Figure 2. Egr-1 immunoreactivity was quantified in coronal sections. Figs. 2A and 2C show a schematic representation of major landmarks with the midline to the left. Figs. 2B and 2D show photomicrographs, acquired with a 4× objective, of Egr-1 immunoreactivity. Dotted lines in Figs. 2B and 2D encircle the areas sampled within the nucleus accumbens (nAc) and the ventral tegmental area (VTA), respectively. In both Fig. 2B and 2D, the midline is to the right. nIII, third cranial nerve; TSM, septopallio-mesencephalic tract.



Figure 3. Song-induced Egr-1 responses in the nAc (A) and VTA (B) in E2-treated female white-throated sparrows. In both the nAc and VTA, the Egr-1 response to seven four-min exposures to song (total 28 min) was higher than to a single four-min exposure (**nAc p = 0.022; VTA p = 0.023) or silence (*nAc p = 0.024; VTA p = 0.004).



Figure 4. Egr-1 responses in the nAc (A) and VTA (B) in female white-throated sparrows. In both regions of interest, the Egr-1 response to song was significantly higher than to tones in E2-treated birds (*nAc p = 0.037; VTA p < 0.001) and higher to song in E2-treated birds than in untreated birds (**nAc p = 0.038, VTA p = 0.027).



Figure 5. Egr-1 responses in the nAc (A) and VTA (B) in male white-throated sparrows. In the VTA, T-treatment increased Egr-1 expression regardless of stimulus group, and a similar trend was present in the nAc (nAc p = 0.079; *VTA p = 0.009). The response to song was no higher than the response to tones in either region for either treatment group.